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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JEFFREY CARPENTER as administrator of ‘ CIVIL ACTION
the Estate of Gregory Longenecker

1201 Main Street No.
Shoemakersville, PA 19555

Plaintiff, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
V.

PENNSYLVANIA STATE POLICE

1800 Elmerton Avenue

Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797;
PENNSYLVANIA GAME COMMISSION
2001 Elmerton Avenue |
Harrisburg, PA 17110-9797;

JOHN DOE PENNSYLVANIA STATE
TROOPERS, in their official and individual
capacities and the identities of whom are
presently unknown by plaintiff |
c/o Pennsylvania State Police;

MARK WEISS, in his official and individual
capacity

c/o Pennsylvania Game Commission; and
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA
Strawberry Square

Harrisburg, PA 17120

Defendants. |

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Jeffrey Carpenter (administrator of the Estate of Gregory Longenecker), through
his counsel, Jordan Strokovsky, avers as follows:

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT: Pennsylvania State Police and a Pennsylvania
Game Commission Worker ran Gregory Longenecker over with a bulldozer,

crushing and Killing him.

1. A helicopter is flying low overhead, a battalion of armed men are on standby, and a

bulldozer is rumbling through brush that contains Gregory Longenecker--a harmless, music



Case 5:19-cv-01107-JLS Document 1 Filed 03/18/19 Page 5 of 23

loving, short order cook. Gregory has a date with his longtime-girlfriend early that evening, but
he is not coming home. Pennsylvania State Police are running Greg over with a bulldozer—
crushing and killing him all over a small amount of marijuana plants.

From the very beginning of this 2.5 hour event, the State Police knew Gregory was no
threat. Rather than walk through the very manageable brush and approach Mr. Longenecker, use
a police dog, wait for Mr. Longenecker to leave the brush, or simply later meet Mr. Longenecker
at his house, State Police sent a helicopter to hover low over the brush. Among the loud noise,
flying debris, and chaos created by the helicopter, the troopers from the helicopter screamed over
the loudspeaker, “I see you lying there. Get up!” The Police know that Mr. Longenecker is lying
in the underbrush and they know they can’t see him in the brush from the ground. Nonetheless,
State Troopers commandeer a bulldozer and direct a non-law enforcement Game Commission
worker to drive the bulldozer to where Mr. Longenecker is lying in the brush. State Police know
that their actions will kill Mr. Longenecker in a gruesome manner, but they do not stop until he is
dead.

Mr. Longenecker’s life is cut short at fifty-one years of age, leaving behind his family,
friends, girlfriend and soulmate of approximately 25 years, and her children—whom he cared for
as if they were his own. Mr. Longenecker worked 40-80 hours a week as a cook and manager at

a local food establishment. He never harmed anyone and was kind to all.

b
(Gregory Longenecker is on the right.)

2
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The State Police swear to honor the use of force, to be of service to those in danger, and
to obey the law. On July 9", when Gregory Longenecker is being crushed by a government
operated bulldozer, the use of force by the Police is not honored, but is excessive; The Police are
not helping those in danger, but are creating it; And the Police are not upholding the law they
swear to obey, but are violating Mr. Longenecker’s constitutional rights.

We are a society founded, built upon, and sustained by the very fabric of our
Constitution, and when someone violates it, he or she must be held accountable.

In turn, the Estate of Gregory Longenecker seeks justice for Greg and files this lawsuit
pursuant to Section 1983 for defendants’ violation of Mr. Longenecker’s civil rights under the
Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments. State tort claims are being pursued as well.

Finally, there is no way Mr. Longenecker crawled underneath the back of the bulldozer
and any conclusions made to that effect are flat out wrong.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This action is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 1983.

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
Sections 1331 and 1343, and venue is properly set in the United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1391.

4. The causes of action alleged herein arise from factual allegations occurring in this
judicial district.

5. Upon information and belief, Defendants Mark Weiss and the unidentified State Police
reside in this judicial district.

6. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over all state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

Section 1367.
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III. PARTIES

7. Plaintiff, Jeffrey Carpenter, is the administrator of the Estate of Gregory Longenecker
and is an adult individual residing at 1201 Main Street, Shoemakersville, Pennsylvania 19555.

8. Defendant, Mark Weiss (“Defendant Weiss™), is an adult individual, who, during all
relevant times, was employed by the Pennsylvania Game Commission. All of Defendant Weiss’
actions or inactions were taken under color of state law. He is sued in his individual and official
capacity.

9. John Doe Pennsylvania State Police Officers are troopers whose identities have not been
ascertained presently, but they include the State Police Officer who was in the bulldozer during
this incident, the officer(s) who made the decision to use the subject bulldozer, the officer(s) who
guided and/or controlled the bulldozer, and the officers who stood idly by watching Mr.
Longenecker’s constitutional rights be violated. These officers, all of whom were acting under
the color of law, will be sued in their official and individual capacities.

10. Defendant Pennsylvania State Police (“PSP”) was created by an act of legislation, which
was signed into law on May 2, 1905. The Defendant PSP has jurisdiction in all political
subdivisions in the Commonwealth. The Defendant PSP is headquartered at 1800 Elmerton
Avenue, Harrisburg, PA 17110.

11. Defendant Commonwealth of Pennsylvania created Defendant PSP by an act of
legislation which was signed into law on May 2, 1905.

12. Defendant Pennsylvania Game Commission, with its headquarters located at the above-
captioned address, is the Commonwealth’s agency responsible for wildlife conservation and

management in Pennsylvania.
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IV. FACTS

13. On July 9, 2018, Gregory Longenecker was on state game lands with his friend, David
Light.

14. It was a calm, but hot, summer day.

15. At around 11:00 AM, game commission worker Defendant Weiss contacted Chief Brian
Thumm of the Bernville Police Department regarding Mr. Light’s vehicle parked by the sign that
states “No Motor Vehicles Beyond this Point” in state game land lot 280 in Penn Township,
Berks County, Pennsylvania.

16. Along with Defendant Weiss, Chief Thumm arrived to the vehicle and saw no one in it.

17. He ran the plate on the vehicle and it was not stolen.

18. Chief Thumm and Defendant Weiss approached a section of underbrush in search of the
person from the vehicle.

19. Chief Thumm allowed Defendant Weiss to enter the underbrush while he waited nearby.

20. Chief Thumm did not want to go through the brush because he considers himself to be
older and out of shape.

21. Defendant Weiss screamed out that he found marijuana plants.

22. Despite being out of shape, Chief Thumm ran through the underbrush “like a bull in a
china shop.”

23. In the direction of Mr. Light and Mr. Longenecker, Chief Thumm screamed, “Stop or I’1l
shoot.”

24. Chief Thumm grabbed David Light and took him down to the bottom of the hill with
Defendant Weiss to Chief Thumm’s car.

25. Up until this incident, Mr. Light had no criminal record.
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26. At 11:18 AM, it was noted that Mr. Light was in custody.

27. Gregory Longenecker remained in the brush.

28. State police, other local law enforcement, and game commission personnel were called to
the scene.

29. Chief Thumm noted, “There were troopers and game commission officers coming in all
over the place.”

30. Immediately, Mr. Light identified his friend, Gregory Longenecker, to the State Police,
which was noted by authorities at 11:32 AM.

31. The State Police looked Mr. Longenecker up in their system, where they obtained his
basic information, including his address.

32. The State Police knew Mr. Longenecker had no outstanding warrants and his criminal
record (or lack thereof) revealed that he was no danger to law enforcement or the community.

33. At the scene, Mr. Light also pleaded to law enforcement that Mr. Longenecker was
harmless, docile, and unarmed.

34. Law enforcement knew Mr. Longenecker did not possess a firearm, was not a gun owner,
and that he was not a threat.

35. Despite being in a location just feet from where the marijuana plants were spotted,
comparable to the distance that an older Chief Thumm could go in like a bull in a china shop, no
efforts were made to walk through the brush to Mr. Longenecker.

36. Law enforcement did not use the assistance of dogs or handheld tools to go through the
brush.

37. Law enforcement did ﬁot put out an APB and wait to approach Mr. Longenecker at his

home nearby.
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38. Law enforcement simply did not wait for Mr. Longenecker to leave the brush.
39. Instead, with approximately fifteen law enforcement vehicles at the scene and many

officers on location, the state police aviation unit was called to the scene.

40. The helicopter spotted Mr. Longenecker lying stationary in the brush.

41. The helicopter was flying low over Mr. Longenecker.

42. It was very loud and debris was flying everywhere.'

43. Again, rather than have law enforcement walk mere feet through the brush to approach
Mr. Longenecker (despite knowing that Chief Thumm was able to manage going through the
brush), wait until Mr. Longenecker exited the brush, or question Mr. Longenecker later at his
residence, among other things, inexplicably, the State Police commandeered a bulldozer to head

directly towards Mr. Longenecker.

! This is not the only time State Police inappropriately used one of its helicopters. See
https://www.cnn.com/videos/us/2018/10/04/penn-state-tailgate-helicopter-faa-orig-vstan-bdk.cnn.

7
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44. A CAT D4G XL Bulldozer, with similar force and characteristics of a military tank, was
being operated by Defendant Weiss—who received direction and/or was under control by the
unidentified state trooper in the bulldozer with him and troopers radioing in from the helicopter.

45. Defendant Weiss has no training or experience in law enforcement; he certainly was not
qualified to approach Mr. Longenecker in this situation, and it is against State Police Policy to
enlist non-law enforcement personnel in this situation.

46. Even outside of brush, visibility in this bulldozer is difficult, particularly spotting objects
low to the ground.

47. Here, the police admit that from the ground, the brush was so thick that they could not
see in front of them.

48. Trooper Boehm explained further, “It’s so thick up there, there’s no way, there’s no way
you could see somebody laying there.”

49. Nonetheless, with zero visibility, Defendant Weiss, under the direction of State Police
and the unidentified trooper in the cabin with him, began to drive the bulldozer towards the
defenseless Mr. Longenecker.

50. The helicopter was communicating with the trooper in the cabin about Mr.

Longenecker’s location.
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51. The bulldozer was headed directly where Mr. Longenecker was spotted lying down.

52. Over the PA System of the helicopter and amidst the booming force and flying debris, the
troopers screamed, “I see you lying there! Get up!”

53. The bulldozer continued towards Mr. Longenecker, with Defendant Weiss and the
unidentified troopers knowing that he was lying in that area and also knowing they could not
see in front of them.

54. Next, the helicopter personnel told the bulldozer to stop.

55. Just mere feet from where the small assembly of marijuana plants were located, Gregory
Longenecker was crushed and killed by being run over by the nine ton bulldozer.

56. It was 1:50 PM.

57. Virtually all of Mr. Longenecker’s bones and organs were crushed, broken, and/or
lacerated from his pelvis to his collar bone. Among other things, he also suffered horrendous
wounds to his head and right leg.

58. The deliberate, intentional, and reckless actions of the troopers and Defendant Weiss go
against all common sense and respect for life.

59. Surely, Defendant Weiss—with experience and training operating a bulldozer—and the
involved unidentified troopers, who are trained on the use of force and searching for civilians,
knew and had to have known that their actions were outrageous, criminal, and violating Mr.
Longenecker’s civil rights.

60. When later apologizing to Gregory Longenecker’s uncle, a sergeant with the state police
admitted that they never should have used a bulldozer (especially over such a small amount of

plants) and that they should have just questioned Mr. Longenecker later at his house.
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61. The manual for the CAT D4GXL provides: “Before you move the machine, you must
make sure that no one will be endangered.” Nonetheless, with each passing second the machine
traveled, it was clear Mr. Longenecker’s life was in grave danger.

62. The operator’s manual provides: “Do not allow riders on the machine.” Nonetheless, a
State Trooper was along for the ride with other troopers radioing in, amidst the warzone created
by the pack of state troopers and low hovering helicopter. Also, the troopers were well aware that
they were violating State Police Policy for utilizing Defendant Weiss, a non-law enforcement
officer, to achieve their objective of overkill.

63. Finally, the manual provides: “Before you start the engine and before you move the
machine, make sure that no one is underneath the machine, around the machine, or on the
machine. Make sure that the area is free of personnel.” However, here the Police sent this tank-
like vehicle directly towards a human—knowing that the dozer would crush all in its path.

64. The State Police also violated their policies pertaining to the use of motor vehicles and
heavy equipment in this situation; OSHA regulations were violated as well. But outside of
policies, regulations, and manuals, it is obvious that this powerful machinery with limited
visibility was not a search vehicle; rather, it was a machine of death.

65. During this 2.5 hour period, where Mr. Longenecker was surrounded, contained, and
stationary, Defendants were not and/or should not have been in a hurried positon for decision
making.

66. This was not a high speed pursuit; in fact, the police claimed on the news it was not a
pursuit on the bulldozer in any regard.

67. The state police and Defendant Weiss were not chasing after stationary Gregory

Longenecker.

10



Case 5:19-cv-01107-JLS Document 1 Filed 03/18/19 Page 14 of 23

68. The state police and Defendant Weiss were using a bulldozer to search for and/or seize
defenseless and harmless Gregory Longenecker.

69. The state police and Defendant Weiss knew and should have known Gregory
Longenecker was harmless, had no firearm, and was not a flight risk or danger to the public as he
was lying stationary alone in the brush of lot 280—far from major roads and without access to
any car or other form of transportation.

70. There were no circumstances for the troopers to infer that Gregory Longenecker was a
threat.

71. The authorities also allege that the bulldozer was only moving one mile per hour.

72. Defendants knew that their actions would likely seriously injure or kill Gregory
Longenecker, but nonetheless intentionally drove the bulldozer directly where Gregory
Longenecker was spotted lying stationary in the brush.

73. There is no way Mr. Longenecker crawled underneath the back of the bulldozer; while
some authorities have stated almost two months after the incident that the bulldozer stopped and
Mr. Longenecker crawled under it, this did not occur and tellingly, there is no mentioning of the
bulldozer stopping and starting again in initial accounts—including those by State Police and the
Investigation Report by the Coroner’s Office.

74. This is not just a senseless killing; Gregory Longenecker’s constitutional rights were
violated and deprived.

Destruction of Evidence

75. In September of 2018, Plaintiff’s counsel sent numerous letters and emails to the Game

11
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Commission and State Police notifying each of the need to preserve evidence in anticipation of
litigation. Specifically, it was requested that the Game Commission preserve the scene of the

incident:

(Pictures above were taken shortly after Greg was killed.)

76. Also in September, the Game Commission responded that it received the notice to
preserve by Plaintiff’s counsel and that it would take appropriate measures to preserve evidence.

77. Despite being on notice, it has recently been discovered that the brush area where Mr.
Longenecker was needlessly killed has been cleared and wiped clean well after the prior

correspondence was received and responded to:

(Recent pictures above show the dsroyed site.)

12
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78. This eradication and destruction of crucial evidence unfairly and unjustly prejudices
Plaintiff’s ability to investigate this matter, seek the truth, and further establish that Gregory
Longenecker was run over by the bulldozer operated by Defendant Weiss and an unknown
trooper. As such, Plaintiff will be seeking relief from the Court for Defendant Game
Commission’s spoliation of evidence.

V. CAUSES OF ACTION

WRONGFUL DEATH ACTION

79. Plaintiff, hereby brings Wrongful Death claims pursuant to 42 Pa.C.S. §8301 (the
Pennsylvania Wrongful Death Statute) on behalf of all those persons entitled by law to recover
damages as a result of the wrongful death of Gregory Longenecker.

80. The only person legally entitled to recover under the Wrongful Death Statute is
decedent’s father, George Longenecker, who resides at 433 4" Street, Wernersville, PA 19565.
81. No other action has been brought to recover for Mr. Longenecker’s death under the

aforementioned statute.

82. Plaintiff claims all available damages under the Pennsylvania Wrongful Death Statute for
financial contributions and the loss of future services, support, society, comfort, affection,
guidance, tutelage, and contribution that the Plaintiff’s decedent, Gregory Longenecker, would
have rendered to the wrongful death beneficiary but for his traumatic, untimely and unnatural
death.

83. Plaintiff claims damages for payment for all medical bills and/or expenses.

84. Plaintiff claims damages for payment of funeral and burial expenses.

13
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SURVIVAL ACTION
85. Plaintiff also brings a Survival Action under the Pennsylvania Survival Statute, 42
Pa.C.S. § 8302, and pursuant to Pa.C.S. § 3373, for all damages recoverable under the Statute,
including but not limited to, loss of income, as well as, nightmarish and agonizing pain and
suffering prior to death, and for emotional distress suffered by Gregory Longenecker from the
time of first impact and/or injury to his death.

COUNT I - Violation of 42 USC Section 1983 (Excessive Force)
Plaintiff v. Defendant Mark Weiss and John Doe State Police Officers

86. All preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein.

87. Defendants Weiss and the John Doe State Police Officers, in their individual and official
capacities and under color of law, did subject and/or cause Mr. Longenecker to be deprived of
his rights, privileges and/or immunities secured by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of
the United States Constitution.

88. Specifically, the individual defendants, in their individual and official capacities, violated
Plaintiff’s constitutional rights when they used inappropriate and excessive force under the color
of law that was grossly disproportionate to the action that was required under the circumstances.

89. The individual defendants’ misconduct clearly violated Plaintiff’s constitutional right to
be free of unreasonable seizures without due process of law.

90. Defendant Weiss and the unidentified trooper in the cabin with him, intentionally drove
the bulldozer directly where Mr. Longenecker was lying and intentionally ran him over,
intentionally charged towards Mr. Longenecker as a means to seize him, intentionally charged
towards Mr. Longenecker as a means to get Mr. Longenecker to exit the brush, and/or
intentionally charged towards Mr. Longenecker while deliberately disregarding the great risk of

harm.
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91. In a tragic fashion, Defendant Weiss and the unidentified troopers’ objective to seize
and/or put a stop to Mr. Longenecker’s presence in the underbrush proved successful.

92. Other unidentified troopers had the opportunity to stop this madness, but either
cooperated and encouraged Defendant Weiss and the unidentified trooper’s actions in the
bulldozer or watched in silence as Mr. Longenecker perished.

93. The misconduct of the individual defendants, individually and in their official capacities,
was the proximate cause of Mr. Longenecker’s injuries and death, as described above, including
the nightmarish conscious pain and suffering associated with being run over by a bulldozer.

94. The level of force used by the individual defendants can only be classified as punitive
and served no legitimate purpose.

95. The individual defendants willfully and maliciously applied excessive force with the sole
intention of inflicting bodily injury, pain, and otherwise punishing Mr. Longenecker, who posed
no danger to the individual defendants.

96. The misconduct of individual defendants was motivated by evil motive and/or mob
mentality, and displayed reckless or callous indifference to Mr. Longenecker’s constitutional
rights.

COUNT II - Violation of 42 USC Section 1983 (State Created Danger)
Plaintiff v. Defendant Mark Weiss and John Doe State Police Officers

97. Plaintiff incorporates herein all prior pleadings.

98. Defendant Weiss and the unidentified trooper in the cabin and the other troopers that
encouraged and helped coordinate this action, were actually aware the bulldozer they were
operating had no visibility in the brush.

99. They were actually aware that Mr. Longenecker was harmless, defenseless, and lying on

the ground.
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100. While obvious and common sense to all, they knew and should have known that
intentionally driving the bulldozer towards a defenseless and stationary Gregory Longenecker
created a great and substantial risk of serious harm to Mr. Longenecker.

101. They intentionally and subjectively disregarded the great and substantial risk of serious
harm to Mr. Longenecker, which was foreseeable and certain to occur; their actions were the
proximate cause of his injuries and death.

102. Defendants engaged in malicious, outrageous, reckless and deliberately indifferent
conduct in circumstances in which they were not required to act under any pressure or stress, but
which instead provided them ample opportunity to act in a safe and appropriate manner.

103. Defendants’ outrageous actions shocks the conscience and violated Mr. Longenecker’s
constitutional right to substantive due process under the Fourteenth Amendment.

104. Rather than serve those in danger, in this instance, defendants created danger and killed
Mr. Longenecker—who had a reasonable expectation not to crushed to death by a government
operated bulldozer while harmlessly lying defenseless in the brush.

105. Defendants consciously disregarded common sense, obvious and extreme dangers
they created, human decency, training, and all safety protocol by intentionally driving the
bulldozer towards the defenseless Mr. Longenecker until he was dead.

106. Defendants knew, and should have known, at the time that their actions which
killed Mr. Longenecker also clearly violated Mr. Longenecker’s constitutional rights.

107. With willful disregard and/or deliberate indifference to the safety of Mr. Longenecker,
Defendants Weiss and the unidentified trooper in the cabin, ran Mr. Longenecker over with a
bulldozer—with the assistance of other troopers directing and encouraging the men in the

bulldozer.
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108. Defendants engaged in the aforementioned conduct in their respective official and
individual capacity, placing Mr. Longenecker in extreme risk of the harm that befell him, which

otherwise would not have existed.

COUNT HI—NEGLIGENCE
Plaintiff v. Defendants Mark Weiss, Pennsylvania Game Commission, John Doe State
Police Officers, Pennsylvania State Police, and Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

109. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in all previous paragraphs as
if same were set forth at length herein.
110. Plaintiff brings forth a state law negligence claim against defendants, as there is no sovereign

immunity, because the “Vehicle Liability” exception (Section 8522 (b)(1)) is applicable. Under (b)(1),
motor vehicle “means any vehicle which is self-propelled,” and here a bulldozer is certainly a vehicle.

111. Defendant Pennsylvania Game Commission is liable for the negligent and careless acts
of its employee and agent, Defendant Weiss, who ran over defenseless, harmless, and stationary
Gregory Longenecker.

112. Defendant Pennsylvania State Police is liable for the negligent and careless acts of the
unidentified trooper in the cabin that commandeered, controlled, and directed the bulldozer to
run over Gregory Longenecker.

113. The carelessness and negligence of Defendants consists of the following:

a. Running Mr. Longenecker over with the bulldozer.
b. Starting the engine and/or moving the bulldozer without making sure that

no one is underneath or around the dozer, in complete disregard of the
operator’s manual.

c. Operating the bulldozer in an area where it was known that Mr. Longenecker
was in the area, in complete disregard to the operator’s manual.

d. Allowing another person to ride on the bulldozer, in complete disregard to the
operator’s manual.

e. Operating a bulldozer when it is clear it is not a search machine.
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f. Making the decision to operate a bulldozer.
g. Failing to have said motor vehicle under proper and adequate control.

h. Failing to bring said motor vehicle to a stop before running Mr. Longenecker
over.

1. Failing to make proper observations.
j. Failing to keep a clear distance from Mr. Longenecker.

k. Failing to exercise that degree of caution and circumspection required by law
under the circumstances.

. Failing to properly guide, steer and control the vehicle.

m. Operating said motor vehicle at a high and excessive rate of speed under the
circumstances.

n. Failing to use due caution in driving said motor vehicle.

o. Failing to take due note of the point and position of Mr. Longenecker.
p. Failing to maintain an assured clear distance of Mr. Longenecker.
q. Failing to warn Mr. Longenecker.

r. Failing to stop said motor vehicle.

s. Failing to maintain a proper lookout.

t. Operating said motor vehicle in an inattentive matter.

u. Failing to properly brake and steer said motor vehicle.

v. Failing to operate said motor vehicle in a safe manner.

w. Failing to properly maintain and service said motor vehicle.

x. Traveling at a speed too fast for conditions.

y. Violating the assured clear distance ahead rule.

z. Causing said motor vehicle to come in contact with Mr. Longenecker; and
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aa. Violating the statutes, codes, and regulations of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania pertaining to the operation of a motor vehicle under the
circumstances, as well as OSHA regulations.
114. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence and carelessness of Defendants,
Plaintiff was killed.
115. In sum, defendants owed Mr. Longenecker a duty not to run him over with a bulldozer,

which they breached, killing him and causing severe conscious pain and suffering in the process.

COUNT IV—ASSAULT
Plaintiff v. Defendant Mark Weiss and John Doe Pennsylvania Police Officers

116. All preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.

117. While in the process of running Mr. Longenecker over with a bulldozer, defendants
knowingly and intentionally placed Mr. Longenecker in a reasonable and immediate
apprehension of harmful and offensive conduct.

118. This assault caused great emotional harm and conscious pain and suffering.

COUNT V—BATTERY
Plaintiff v. Defendant Mark Weiss and John Doe Pennsylvania Police Officers

119. All preceding paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.

120. Defendants committed a battery by intentionally running Mr. Longenecker over with a
bulldozer with a specific intent to harm.

121. As a result of the battery, plaintiff suffered the injuries already referenced above.

VL. JURY DEMAND

122. Plaintiff demands a jury determination of all issues so triable.

VII. RELIEF REQUESTED

123. WHEREFORE, plaintiff asks the Court to:

a) Enter judgment in his favor, against all defendants;
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b) Award him compensatory damages against all defendants, including but not limited to
all damages permitted under Pennsylvania’s Survival and Wrongful Death Acts;

¢) Award exemplary and punitive damages against Defendants Weiss and the
unidentified John Doe State Police Officers;

d) Award plaintiff attorney fees and costs pursuant to 42 USC Section 1988;

¢) Award such interest and other costs as the law permits;

f) Provide him with such other relief as the Court deems just and equitable.

Respectfully submitted,

STROKOVSKY LLC

By: z/ -

Date: March 18. 2019 JORPAN STROKOVSKY, ESQUIRE
ttorney for Plaintiff

Jordan L. Strokovsky, Esquire
Atty ID #: 318811

1500 Market Street

12% Floor East Tower
Philadelphia, PA 19102
(215)-317-6545

Fax (609)-482-4977
jordan@actionafterinjury.com
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